

Exchange mailbox backup and restore



WHITEPAPER

BackupAssist Version 6 Exchange Mailbox Add-on www.BackupAssist.com



Contents

1. Introduction and Overview	3-4
1.1 What does the Exchange Mailbox Add-on do?	3
1.2 Who needs the Exchange Mailbox Add-on?	3
1.3 Comparison matrix	3
1.4 Key features and benefits of the add-on	4
2. How the Exchange Mailbox Add-on Works	5-7
2.1 How the export of mail data is achieved	5
2.2 The grouping of mailbox data	5
2.3 More than just a simple 'snapshot' backup of mailboxes	6
2.4 Benefits over PowerShell scripts (Exchange 2007)	6
2.5 Benefits over standard ExMerge scripts	7
3. Requirements / Configurations	7-9
3.1 PST formats	7-8
3.2 Available configurations	9
4. Setup Instructions	
4.1 Instructions for Windows Vista, Server 2008, and SBS 2008	
4.2 Instructions for Windows 2000, XP, Server 2003, and SBS 2003	
4.3 Performing a manual export of Exchange mailbox data	14
5. Restoring Mailbox Data	
5.1 Restore options available	
5.2 Using the BackupAssist Restore Console	
5.3 Manually opening PST files in Outlook	
5.4 Using the Microsoft Mailbox Merge Wizard to mass-import items (Exchange 2003)	
6. Manually restoring Public Folders in Outlook	22-23
7. Resources and Support	
7.1 Useful resources	
7.2 Contacting support	



1. Introduction and Overview

1.1 What does the Exchange Mailbox Add-on do?

The BackupAssist Exchange Mailbox Add-on is used to achieve brick-level backups of your Microsoft Exchange Server. The add-on extracts Exchange Server mail data to separate .PST files, which can be read using Microsoft Outlook, or reimported to your Exchange Server to retrieve mail items. The extracted .PST files can be copied to your intended backup device: tape, CD/DVD, hard disk, and so on, for redundancy and permanent storage offsite.

A separate .PST file is created for each Exchange user's mailbox, making for simple and rapid restoration of user's individual or group emails, calendars, tasks, notes, contacts or entire mailboxes. As mailboxes are stored in Microsoft's PST format, they can be easily opened with Outlook and are not locked into any vendor's proprietary formats.

The add-on provides automatic grouping of emails by date, allowing you to sort your mail into separate folders by year, quarter, or month. This is especially useful for compliance and legal scenarios where you may be required to produce separate archives of your mail data for specific time periods.

The best part of the Exchange Mailbox Add-on? It's all automated for you. Input your mail server settings, configure a few simple options, perform an initial export of your mail data and BackupAssist will take care of the rest, automatically appending incremental backups of new mail data each day, as specified within your backup schedule.

1.2 Who needs the Exchange Mailbox Add-on?

The following table outlines where the add-on is best utilized:

Where to use the add-on	Where not to use the add-on
 To restore individual mailbox items that have been accidentally changed or deleted. To bulk-restore messages, with filtering options such as date, mailbox, message subject, etc. To retain a historical library of your emails, which can also be stored offsite or viewed offline. 	 To restore a complete exchange server. Instead, restore the entire Information Store from your main Exchange backup (see the <u>Exchange Server</u> <u>Backup and Restore</u> whitepaper on our website).

Supported platforms for this add-on: Microsoft Exchange Server 2000, 2003, 2007, and 2010

1.3 Comparison matrix

The following table highlights the different configurations of BackupAssist that are available:

	BackupAssist	BackupAssist + Exchange Mailbox Add-on
Information Store Backup	\checkmark	\checkmark
Individual Mailboxes	×	Public foldersPrivate user mailboxes
	Restore optionsFully restore your Exchange Server	Restore optionsIndividual item restoreBasic archiving



1.4 Key features and benefits

The following table highlights the key features and benefits of the Exchange Mailbox add-on:

Feature	Benefits
Brick-level backup of Exchange data	Achieve automated brick-level backup of Exchange data to backup user's individual mailboxes.
Smarter implementation makes daily backups fast	After an initial export of existing mail data to separate PST files (one per mailbox), BackupAssist will automatically schedule daily exports that intelligently merge or append only new mail data into these files. This is similar to a daily incremental and is much faster than traditional backup methods.
Simple and rapid restoration of Exchange data	A separate .PST file is created for each Exchange user's mailbox, making for simple and rapid restoration of user's individual or group emails, calendars, tasks, notes, contacts or entire mailboxes.
✓ No proprietary formats	PST is a well recognized file format, and users can open the files easily in Outlook. Email data is not locked within a proprietary format.
Easy grouping and storage of emails	PST files of mail data can be easily stored within separate folders and sorted by either year, quarter or month. This is useful for compliance and in legal scenarios where forensic archiving is required.
Extra protection for deleted items	Mailbox backups go beyond the standard 'snapshot' backup. Each separate PST file is the cumulative total of all emails sent and received over a given time period.
	This prevents problems arising when a user discovers they deleted an email weeks or even months later.
\checkmark External storage of mail data	Exchange mailbox PST files can be backed up to External Storage media such as tape, optical, or hard disk.
Archive mail data to writeablemedia or FTP	PST files can be written to CD/DVDs or transferred to remote servers, such as a FTP server or NAS device for permanent offsite storage.
✓ A range of recovery options	 Automated recovery: use either the BackupAssist Restore Console to select mailboxes and public folders to restore, or, if your mailboxes were backed up using Exmerge (Exchange 2003 only) to restore directly from your Exchange Mailbox Backups with powerful filters (by date, attachment, subject, and so on). Manual recovery: individual users can open PST files in Outlook and drag-and-drop items back into the relevant folders.
Vorks on 32 bit & 64 bit machines	The BackupAssist solution can be installed on 64 or 32 bit machines, giving you the same simple setup no matter what version of Exchange or Windows Server you're running.
V Public Folder backup	BackupAssist can backup Public Folders to their own PST file.



2. How the Exchange Mailbox Add-on Works

2.1 How the export of mail data is achieved

The Exchange Mailbox add-on performs brick-level backups of users' mailboxes to separate PST files. We recommended that you perform an initial manual export of your selected mailboxes (see **section 4.3**). After this export, BackupAssist will merge new mail data to existing PST files according to your backup schedule.

The below diagram provides an overview of how the add-on works:



2.2 The grouping of mailbox data

A **grouping method** can be selected to determine how your mail data is stored on disk, with different options to store mail data within separate folders according to different time periods. PST files can be grouped by either month, quarter, year, or simply stored as a single set. The grouping method option makes it easier to locate mail data from specific dates.

Single Month Quarter Year U:\ExchangeMailbox\2006-Q1\ U:\ExchangeMailbox\2005\ U:\ExchangeMailbox\ U:\ExchangeMailbox\2006-01\ Fred.pst Fred.pst Fred.pst Fred.pst January January 2006 All 2005 email Tim.pst March 2006 Tim.pst Tim.pst All email Tim.pst email only only David.pst David.pst David.pst email only David.pst U:\ExchangeMailbox\2006-02\ U:\ExchangeMailbox\2006-Q2\ U:\ExchangeMailbox\2006\ Fred.pst April - June Fred.pst Fred.pst All 2006 email February 2006 2006 email Tim.pst Tim.pst Tim.pst email only only David.pst David.pst only David.pst U:\ExchangeMailbox\2006-03\ U:\ExchangeMailbox\2006-Q3\ Fred.pst Fred.pst July -March 2006 Tim.pst Tim.pst September email only 2006 email only David.pst David.pst U:\ExchangeMailbox\2006-Q4\ Fred.pst October -December 2006 Tim.pst David.pst email only U:\ExchangeMailbox\2006-12\ Fred.pst December Tim.pst 2006 email only David.pst

The following diagram illustrates how mail data is stored:

2.3 More than just a simple 'snapshot' backup of mailboxes

Each separate PST file for each user is the cumulative total of all emails sent or received over a given time period, and **not** just a 'snapshot' of each individual user's mailbox at a particular point in time. Doing this prevents problems when a user requires an email that they deleted weeks or months ago, but only has a recent backup of their mailbox that does not include the deleted item.

For example, given these events:

- 1. An email is received on the 1^{st} of May 2006.
- 2. The user deletes this email on the 3^{rd} of May 2006.
- 3. On the 5th of June 2006, the user needs to retrieve this previously deleted email.

With BackupAssist's Exchange Mailbox add-on, the original email would be backed up in the relevant year, quarter, month, or single folder, depending on your group settings, as a separate PST file on the night of the 1st of May. Even though the user deleted the email on the 3rd of May, the PST file would still contain the original message. When you need to recover the email, you can open the relevant user's PST file and the original email will be available. The following diagram demonstrates how the sorting process works, assuming that the mail data is being sorted by month:



2.4 Benefits over PowerShell scripts (Exchange 2007)

PowerShell Limitation / Requirement	BackupAssist overcomes this
Needs to be run on a separate 32-bit machine; cannot be run on the Exchange Server	Can be run on a 64-bit or 32-bit machine, and can be run on the Exchange Server.
Requires the Exchange Server 2007 Management Tools (32-bit)	No management tools required.
Requires Outlook 2003 SP2 or Outlook 2007	BackupAssist does not require Outlook and functions flawlessly without it. However, if Outlook is installed, Unicode PST features are available.
Requires PowerShell scripting	Fully automatic assignment of permissions and exporting of mailboxes, all in a simple UI.
Requires manual scheduling	Automatic scheduling thanks to BackupAssist scheduler.
No automatic reporting	Automatic reporting keeps admin informed of results.
Does not support public folders	BackupAssist supports public folder exporting to PST!



2.5 Benefits over standard ExMerge scripts (Exchange 2003)

The Exchange Mailbox add-on offers a number of key benefits over standard Microsoft ExMerge scripts:

 \checkmark

BackupAssist will manage the mailbox security rights, so no further administrative work is required.





When you choose to backup all mailboxes, any new users' mailboxes will be backed up without you needing to update your settings or scripts manually.

Disabled or hidden Exchange users can be deselected so that they are never backed up.

3. Requirements / Configurations

3.1 PST formats

The following table outlines the different methods BackupAssist supports for creating PST backups of Exchange mailboxes, together with the advantages / disadvantages of each PST format, and the required applications that must be installed to perform mailbox backups. Each advantage / disadvantage and requirement has also been numbered, and a more detailed explanation is provided below.

PST format	Advantages / Disadvantages	Requirements
ANSI PST using Exchange	 Advantages: ✓ Recommended format for Exchange 2003 Servers (1) ✓ Public folder backup support (2) Disadvantages: × 2GB file size limit on PST files (3) 	Exchange Server MAPI Client (1) OR Exchange 2003 Management tools (2)
ANSI PST using Exmerge	Advantages:✓Recommended format for Exchange 2003 Servers (1)✓Legacy support (4)Disadvantages:×No Public folder backup support (2)×2GB file size limit on PST files (3)	Exchange 2003 Management tools (2) AND Microsoft Exmerge (3)
Unicode PST using Outlook	 Advantages: ✓ Microsoft recommended format for Exchange 2007 /2010 Servers (1) ✓ Public folder backup support (2) ✓ No 2GB file size limit on PST files (3) ✓ International character support (5) Disadvantages: × Requires Microsoft Outlook (6) 	Microsoft Outlook (4) Note : Please review the following Microsoft article before using the Unicode functionality <u>http://support.microsoft.com/</u> <u>kb/266418</u>

Advantages / disadvantages explained

(1) Recommended format

- ANSI PST is the recommended format when backing up mailboxes from Exchange 2003 servers.
- Unicode PST is the recommended format when backing up mailboxes from Exchange 2007/2010 servers.



(2) Public folder backup support

Exchange Server public folders are publicly accessible repositories that store email messages, calendars, contacts, and so on, that everyone on the network can access through Outlook. If public folder backups are supported with your mailbox backup configuration you can configure BackupAssist to backup public folders together with the backup of each user's private mailbox. The Public Folder backup will be stored in your Exchange mailbox backup directory as a PST file named **_PublicFolders_.pst.**

• **Note:** if you have selected ANSI PST using Exmerge as your PST format you will not be able to backup public folders. Exmerge will only extract mail data from private mailboxes.

(3) 2GB file size limit on PST files

PST files in the American National Standards Institute (ANSI) format have a file size limit of 2 gigabytes (GB). Once a PST file grows beyond 2GB in size, the file will become corrupt and unreadable. See Microsoft article Q288283 and Q830336 for more details.

To overcome this limitation, you can choose to group your mail data by selecting a grouping method within the Exchange tab of BackupAssist. This option will act to store mail data within separate folders for each month, with each separate PST file being much smaller as it only contains mail data from a single month. Alternatively, you can store your PST mailbox backups in the Unicode format, which does not have any file size limit.

(4) Legacy support

Support for the Microsoft Mailbox Merge Wizard (Exmerge) is included for backwards compatibility with previous versions of BackupAssist only; new features such as Public folder backup support are not available with this setting. Users familiar with Exmerge can continue using this setting to maintain compatibility with their current environment.

(5) International character support

PST files in Unicode format provide support for international characters, including non-Latin alphabets.

(6) Requires Microsoft Outlook

The machine running BackupAssist must have Microsoft Outlook installed in to create PST files in Unicode format.

Requirements explained

(1) Exchange Server MAPI client

The Exchange Messaging API (MAPI) client provides a COM-like API that BackupAssist uses to access to the contents of messaging stores on an Exchange Server. BackupAssist provides a built-in facility to automatically install the MAPI client, but this can also be downloaded and installed manually from <u>Microsoft</u>. The Exchange MAPI client can be installed on nearly any Windows operating system, but cannot be installed if Microsoft Outlook is already present on your server. If you are running Windows Vista (32-bit or 64-bit) or a 64-bit operating system, such as Server 2008 or SBS 2008, you must either install the Exchange MAPI to backup to PST in ANSI format, or install Microsoft Outlook to backup to PST in Unicode format. The latest version of Exchange 2007 MAPI can be obtained using the "Upgrade" feature in the BackupAssist Console. (Note that the version of MAPI that comes with the 2003 Management tools cannot be upgraded and does not support backup of Exchange 2010.)

(2) Exchange 2003 Management tools

The Exchange Server 2003 Management tools may be installed on the machine running BackupAssist if you want BackupAssist to create mailbox backups in ANSI PST format using either Exchange or Exmerge. The Exchange Server 2003 Management tools can be installed using the Exchange Server 2003 installation disc.

• **Note**: The Exchange 2003 Management Tools cannot be installed on Windows Vista (32-bit or 64-bit) or any 64-bit operating system, such as Server 2008 or SBS 2008.

(3) Microsoft Exmerge

The Microsoft Mailbox Merge Wizard (Exmerge) must be installed on the machine running BackupAssist if you want BackupAssist to create PST mailbox backups in ANSI format using Exmerge. BackupAssist provides a facility for automatically downloading and installing Exmerge on your server.

• Note: the Exchange Server 2003 Management tools must be installed before Exmerge can be installed.

(4) Microsoft Outlook

Microsoft Outlook (any modern 32bit version of Outlook – 2003, 2007 or 2010 [64bit versions not supported]), must be installed on the machine running BackupAssist if you want to create PST mailbox backups in Unicode to Trade 1-2007



3.2 Available configurations

The following table outlines the various Exchange Mailbox Backup configurations possible with BackupAssist v5, including the options that each configuration supports:

Configuration	Options supported
ANSI PST using	with Exchange MAPI client installed
Exchange	Operating systems supported: 32-bit and 64-bit versions of Windows XP, Server / SBS 2003, Server / SBS 2008.
	Public folder backup: 💙
	Setting mailbox rights on Exchange 2003: 样
	Setting mailbox rights on Exchange 2007/2010: 💙 *
	with Exchange 2003 Management Tools installed
	Operating systems supported: 32-bit versions of Windows 2000, XP, Server / SBS 2003.
	Public folder backup support: 💙
	Automatically setting mailbox rights on Exchange 2003: 💙
	Automatically setting mailbox rights on Exchange 2007/2010: 💙 *
ANSI PST using	with Exchange 2003 Management Tools and Exmerge installed
Exmerge	Operating systems supported: 32-bit versions of Windows 2000, XP, Server / SBS 2003.
	Public folder backup support: 送
	Automatically setting mailbox rights on Exchange 2003: 💙
	Automatically setting mailbox rights on Exchange 2007/2010: 💙 *
Unicode PST	with Microsoft Outlook 2003 / 2007 / 2010 installed
using Outlook	Operating systems supported: 32-bit and 64-bit versions of Windows 2000, XP, Server 2003, SBS2003, Vista, Server 2008, and SBS 2008.
	Public folder backup support: 💙
	Automatically setting mailbox rights on Exchange 2003: With Exchange 2003 Management Tools installed *
	Automatically setting mailbox rights on Exchange 2007/2010: 💙 *

* Most Exchange 2007 and Exchange 2010 setups do not require you to enable the option to set mailbox rights automatically for mailbox backups to run correctly. This option should only be enabled when advised by the BackupAssist Technical Support team.

• Note: you cannot install both Exchange 2003 Management Tools and Exchange 2007/2010 Management Tools on the same machine; for Unicode PST the "setting mailbox rights" option that is available depends on the version of Exchange Management Tools that is installed (we suggest installing the 2003 Management Tools if backing up Exchange 2003 servers).



4. Setup instructions

The following section provides a set of instructions for setting up Exchange Mailbox backups using BackupAssist's Exchange Mailbox Add-on. The instructions provided have been separated according to the operating system that BackupAssist is installed on, as the mailbox backup settings available depend on the operating system you are using.

• Note: for users with existing mailbox backup jobs who have upgraded BackupAssist to a version that has the new Exchange Mailbox Backup engine, their jobs will continue to use Exmerge to backup Exchange mailboxes, and therefore store PSTs in the ANSI format. To change this setting, access the **Destination** tab of your job.

4.1 Instructions for Windows Vista, 7 Server 2008/R2, and SBS 2008

The following instructions are for users who have installed BackupAssist on Windows Vista, 7, Server 2008, or SBS 2008. To create an Exchange mailbox backup job:

- 1. Launch BackupAssist, click File > New backup job and select Exchange Mailbox under 'Application backup'.
 - Note: Exchange mailbox and public folder backups can be embedded in all BackupAssist jobs via the 'Exchange Servers' tab. Mailbox and public folder backups are executed as part of a backup run, and included in your main file selections, which are written to your backup destination.
- 2. Select an appropriate schedule and click **Next**.
- 3. Input the **Directory path** where you would like your Exchange Mailbox backups to be stored, and choose a **Grouping method** from the available drop-down menu.
- 4. On the same screen, choose an appropriate **PST format**:

Note: selecting an appropriate PST format is important, as PST files cannot be converted from one format to the other. For more information about each PST file format refer to **section 3.1**.

• ANSI PST using Exchange:

To use this option you must have the Exchange MAPI client installed on your machine. Note that the MAPI client cannot be installed if Microsoft Outlook is already present on the machine. So to store mailbox backups in ANSI format you need to make sure that a) Microsoft Outlook **is not** installed; and b) the Exchange MAPI client **is** installed.

BackupAssist provides a facility for automatically installing the Exchange MAPI client:

1. Select the ANSI PST using Exchange radio button and then click the blue Install help link below:



2. A new window should appear. Click the **Install** button under **Microsoft Exchange Server MAPI Client (and CDO) 1.2.1** to install the MAPI client:

Microsoft Exchange Se	rver MAPI Client (and CDO) 1.2.1
🔔 Not installed	BackupAssist can install the Exchar
Install	 Enables creation of ANSI PST file Is incompatible with Outlook, so Is incompatible with the Exchang may need BackupAssist to automal
	may need backupessist to automa

3. BackupAssist will then download the Exchange MAPI client and install it on your machine.

• ANSI PST using Exmerge:

This option is not available on Windows Vista, Server 2008, or SBS 2008, as Exmerge requires the Exchange Server 2003 Management tools, which cannot be installed on any of these operating systems.

• Unicode PST using Outlook (recommended):

To use this option you must have Microsoft Outlook 2003 or later installed on your machine. Note that you should **not** install Microsoft Outlook if the Exchange MAPI client is already present on the machine.



So to store mailbox backups in Unicode format you need to make sure that a) the Exchange MAPI client **is not** installed; and b) Microsoft Outlook 2003 or later **is** installed.

5. On the same screen, choose whether BackupAssist should attempt to automatically set mailbox rights on your Exchange server using the available checkboxes:

• For 2003 servers:

This option is not available on Windows Vista, Server 2008, or SBS 2008, as it requires the Exchange Server 2003 Management tools, which cannot be installed on any of these operating systems.

For 2007/2010 servers:

Most Exchange 2007 and Exchange 2010 setups do not require this option to be enabled in order for mailbox backups to run successfully. This option should only be enabled when advised by the BackupAssist Technical Support team, typically when the Backup User Identity is not an Exchange Domain Server Administrator.

- 5. Click Next and then Add Exchange Server to select the Exchange server(s) you want to backup mailboxes from.
- 6. Check the **Backup individual mailboxes** checkbox for each Exchange server that you want to backup individual mailboxes from.
- 7. Check the **Backup public folders** checkbox if you also wish to backup your Exchange server public folders each time a mailbox backup runs:

S GERSHWIN
🕼 Backup individual mailboxes
All mailboxes are being backed up
All mailboxes are being backed up
Select mailboxes to backup
Backup public folders

- 8. Click **Next**, name your backup job, and then click **Finish**.
- 9. To access mailbox backup settings for this job click **Edit** and select the appropriate job. From the left:
 - Click Destination to change the mailbox directory path, grouping method, and PST file format.
 - **Click Exchange Servers** to configure which Exchange servers to backup mailboxes from, and whether public folders should be backed up.
 - Click **Export options** to configure more advanced mailbox backup options.



4.2 Instructions for Windows 2000, XP, Server 2003, SBS 2003

The following instructions are for users who have installed BackupAssist on Windows 2000, XP, Server 2003, or SBS 2003. To create an Exchange mailbox backup job:

- 1. Launch BackupAssist, click **File > New backup job** and select **Exchange Mailbox** under 'Application backup'.
- 2. Select an appropriate schedule and click **Next**.
- 3. Input the **Directory path** where you would like your Exchange Mailbox backups to be stored, and choose a **Grouping method** from the available drop-down menu.
- 4. On the same screen, choose an appropriate **PST format**:

Note: selecting an appropriate PST format is important, as a PST file in one format cannot be converted to the other. For more information about each PST file format refer to **section 3.1**.

• ANSI PST using Exchange:

To use this option you must have either the Exchange MAPI client **OR** the Exchange 2003 Management Tools installed on your machine. Note the following:

- The **Exchange** MAPI client cannot be installed if Microsoft Outlook is already present on the machine.
 The Exchange 2003 Management Tools, however, can be installed on a machine with Outlook installed.
- You cannot install both the Exchange MAPI client AND the Exchange 2003 Management Tools you must install one or the other.
- While BackupAssist provides a facility for automatically installing the Exchange MAPI client, we recommend that you install the Exchange 2003 Management Tools, particularly if you are backing up mailboxes from an Exchange 2003 server. See the Microsoft TechNet article <u>How to Install the Exchange System Management Tools</u>' for instructions on how to install the Exchange 2003 Management Tools.

If installing the Exchange 2003 Management Tools is not possible, BackupAssist can automatically install the Exchange MAPI client for you as follows:

1. Select the ANSI PST using Exchange radio button and then click the blue Install help link below:

PST Format:	
ANSI PST using Exchange	Micr
Not installed	Rec
Install help	OR - Ba
	- Tł

 A new window should appear. Click the Install button under Microsoft Exchange Server MAPI Client (and CDO) 1.2.1 to install the MAPI client:

Back up to ANSI PST using Exchange		
Back up to ANSI PST using Exchange Requires Exchange Server MAPI Client OR Exchange 2003 Management Tools		
Microsoft Exchange Server MAPI Client (and CDO) 1.2.1		
🔥 Not installed	BackupAssist can install the Exchan	
Install	 Enables creation of ANSI PST file Is incompatible with Outlook, so i Is incompatible with the Exchange may need BackupAssist to automate 	

3. BackupAssist will then download the Exchange MAPI client and install it on your machine.

• ANSI PST using Exmerge:

To use this option you must have both the Exchange 2003 Management Tools and Exmerge installed on your machine.

Note: if the Exchange MAPI client is already present on your machine you will need to first uninstall it before being able to install the Exchange 2003 Management Tools.

See the Microsoft TechNet article '<u>How to Install the Exchange System Management Tools</u>' for instructions on how to install the Exchange 2003 Management Tools.



Once the management tools are installed BackupAssist can automatically install Exmerge for you as follows:

1. Select the **ANSI PST using Exmerge** radio button and then click the **Install** button below:

PST Format:	
O ANSI PST using Exchange	Mic Pu
• ANSI PST using Exmerge	Lei suj
Not installed	Re - B
Install	for

2. BackupAssist will then download Exmerge and install it on your machine.

• Unicode PST using Outlook (recommended):

To use this option you must have Microsoft Outlook 2003 or later installed on your machine. Note that you cannot install Microsoft Outlook if the Exchange MAPI client is already present on the machine. So to store mailbox backups in Unicode format you need to make sure that a) the Exchange MAPI client is not installed; and b) Microsoft Outlook 2003 or later is installed.

5. On the same screen, choose whether BackupAssist should attempt to automatically set mailbox rights on your Exchange server using the available checkboxes:

• For 2003 servers:

This option is not available on Windows Vista, Server 2008, or SBS 2008, as it requires the Exchange Server 2003 Management tools, which cannot be installed on any of these operating systems.

• For 2007/2010 servers:

Select this option if you want BackupAssist to grant the backup user identity (Settings > Backup user identity) access to the Exchange mailboxes that have been selected for backup. This option is recommended if you are experiencing access errors with mailbox backups on an Exchange 2007/2010 server.

To enable this option you must have the Exchange 2007 or 2010 Management Tools installed on the machine running BackupAssist. See the Microsoft TechNet article '<u>How to Install Exchange 2007 Management Tools</u>' or '<u>Install the Exchange 2010 Management Tools</u>' for instructions.

- Note: you cannot install both the Exchange 2007/2010 and the Exchange 2003 Management Tools on the same machine. If you are backing up mailboxes from both types of Exchange Server we recommend that you install just the Exchange 2003 Management Tools.
- 6. Click **Next** and then **Add Exchange Server** to select the Exchange server(s) you want to backup mailboxes from.
- Check the **Backup individual mailboxes** checkbox for each Exchange server that you want to backup individual mailboxes from.
- Check the Backup public folders checkbox if you also wish to backup your Exchange server public folders each time a mailbox backup runs. The option to backup Public folders will be disabled if you selected ANSI PST using Exmerge as your PST format in step 4.

S GE	RSHWIN
V	3ackup individual mailboxes
	All mailboxes are being backed up
	All mailboxes are being backed up
I E	Select mailboxes to backup Backup public folders

9. Click Next, name your backup job, and then click Finish.



- 10. Click Next, name your backup job, and then click Finish.
- 11. To access mailbox backup settings for this job click **Edit** and select the appropriate job. From the left:
 - Click Destination to change the mailbox directory path, grouping method, and PST file format.
 - **Click Exchange Servers** to configure which Exchange servers to backup mailboxes from, and whether public folders should be backed up.
 - Click Export options to configure more advanced mailbox backup options.

4.3 Performing a manual export of Exchange mailbox data

After you have created your backup job we recommended that you perform a manual export of the selected mailboxes. Depending on the size of your Exchange server and the mailboxes you have selected to backup, the initial export may take some time to complete, which is why we recommend performing it manually, at a time when the server is not being heavily utilized. Refer to **section 2.1** for more information about the initial export.

To perform a manual export of your mailboxes:

- 1. Select **Exchange Servers** from the left menu.
- Scroll to the Mailbox export status section and click Perform manual export. A new window will appear where you
 can select what periods of mail data you would like to export. The periods available for selection are sorted according to
 the grouping method defined.



- Note: if a grouping period is not selected, e-mails within that date range will **not** be backed up during the manual export. By default, the latest grouping period (e.g. January—March 2010) is the only period selected. If you want to export multiple grouping periods, hold down the SHIFT key and select each individual grouping period. To backup all mailbox data on your Exchange Server you will need to select all of the available grouping periods; this can take a very long time to complete depending on the size of your Exchange Server.
- 3. After you have selected the appropriate periods click **OK** and you will be taken to the **Monitor Window** where BackupAssist will begin the export of mailbox data to PST files.
- 4. If the mailbox export fails click **Report** at the bottom of the Monitor Window to determine what errors occurred.
- 5. Once you have completed a successful export of all mailbox data, BackupAssist will keep PST files up to date by automatically scheduling exports each time your backup job is scheduled to run. New mail data is merged into the existing PST files on disk.



5. Restoring Mailbox data

5.1 Restore options available

There are three options available for restoring individual mailboxes and individual mail items: (1) using the BackupAssist Restore Console; (2) manually opening PST files in Outlook; and (3) mass-importing items with the Microsoft Mailbox Merge Wizard.

Using the BackupAssist Restore Console

Use the BackupAssist Restore Console to easily restore both mailboxes and public folders from a specific date range.

Manually opening PST files in Outlook

Use this method for simple scenarios where a user has deleted one or more items, and needs to retrieve the information quickly.

Using the Microsoft Mailbox Merge Wizard (Exchange 2003)

Use this for when you need an automated way of importing data, such as:

- Importing multiple mailboxes.
- Importing messages using filters such as between two dates, subject lines, attachments, folders, etc.

For example: Exchange corruption occurs, and a user has lost their entire 'Sent Items' folder.

5.2 Using the BackupAssist Restore Console

To restore Exchange mailboxes and public folders using the BackupAssist Restore Console:

- 1. Click **Restore** in the navigation bar and choose **BackupAssist Restore Console**.
- 2. Click Load all known backups to load all backup catalogues located in the BackupAssist settings folder. Alternatively use the Browse option to locate the backup set from which you want to restore.
- 3. Choose the job that corresponds to the backup from which you want to restore.



4. Use the calendar to select the date of the backup from which you want to restore (backups are marked in **bold**)



5. **Optional**: if multiple backups were created on the same day a Time drop-down menu will appear below the calendar, which you can use this menu to select the appropriate backup.



- 6. Use the middle pane and right-most pane to expand the loaded backup set and select the data you wish to restore.
 - Please note: mailboxes must be restored independently of other data. If you need to restore other data, such as files, applications or the System State, as well as Exchange mailbox data you will need to complete this as a separate restore task.
- 7. If any mailbox or public folder backups are included within the loaded backup set, named Exchange Server(s) will appear in the middle pane. If you select an Exchange Server from the tree a list of mailboxes available for restore will appear in the right-most pane. From here you can choose which mailboxes to restore, as well as the date range of the mail items that you want to recover (for example you might want to retrieve all of jan.doe's mail data from July 2010).

Contents of Export RAM testing - 6/24/20	Folder details			
Local Disk (C:\ProgramData\BackupAr Local Disk (C:\ProgramData\BackupAr Local Disk (C:\ProgramData\BackupAr VIII TESTINGS8508	Restore mail dated		j	
	Name	ID	Start date	End date
	🔽 🥶 backupassist	backupassist	4/1/2010	6/23/2010
	V -blue	blue	4/1/2010	6/23/2010
	aaron andrews	aaron.andrews	4/1/2010	6/23/2010
	V Jadmin V Jsmallmail	admin	4/1/2010	6/23/2010
		smallmail	4/1/2010	6/23/2010
	🗹 🧾 stu test	stu	4/1/2010	6/23/2010
	V Stestcomplete	testcomplete	4/1/2010	6/23/2010
	V 🧾 largemail	largemail	4/1/2010	6/23/2010
	V pete	pete	4/1/2010	6/23/2010

- 8. Once you have selected the data you wish to restore click the **Restore to** button to the bottom right of the window.
- 9. In the middle drop-down menu you can choose where you want to restore your mailbox and public folders to:

From backup location C:\JobJIWednesday\C	Restore to	Progres	
C. Unit Million de conde de C			
C: Door diveguesoal at	C:/		
			1
	Restore to:		
	Their original location		

- **Original location**: the mailboxes selected for restore will be copied directly back into the Exchange Server that they were originally exported from.
- Alternate server: the mailboxes selected for restore will be copied to an alternate Exchange Server of your choosing. Click the Select button to choose an alternate server to restore to. If no Exchange Servers are detected, click the Select button to search for one.
- Alternate path: all mailboxes will be restored as separate PST files to a single folder of your choosing. you can have all your mailbox PST backups. You can then open up any of the PST files extracted with Outlook and dragand-drop the required mail items back a the user's live mailbox. This option is useful if your PST backups are distributed across multiple folders (e.g. you used a grouping period or modified your mailbox backup directory between backup runs).

If you choose to restore your mailboxes to either their original location or an alternate server, you can click the Configure restore button located under 'Restore options' to change how mailboxes are restored. Here you can individually specify which mailbox each PST mailbox backup should overwrite in your Exchange Server. This is useful if an Exchange Server mailbox has been renamed since being backed up, or if you want to overwrite one mailbox with another.

10.Once you have selected where to restore your data click Restore to the bottom right of the window. Once the restore is complete the result will be printed to the left of the window. Click the blue link to view the restore report.



5.3 Manually opening PST files in Outlook

- 1. Copy the appropriate PST file to a location that is accessible to the relevant user's computer.
- 2. For example: copy the PST temporarily to 'Users Shared Folders', another network share or an external hard drive:
- 3. From the relevant user's computer, run Microsoft Outlook and select File menu > Open > Outlook Data File:

Elle	Edit Yew Go Look	Actions Help	Opening the PST file	Type a questi	on for he	elp
	Ne <u>w</u>	eply 🚑 Reply to All 🔒 Forward	Send/Receive • Sp Find 🍅 🛄 Type a contact to find	• 0		
	Open +	Selected Items Ctrl+O				
	Close All Items	Other User's Folder	Subject	Received T	Size	P
	Save As	Outlook Data Ele	produce.	Processed (1.4
	Save Attachments	Date: Today				
	Folder >	Outlook 2003 Team	Welcome to Microsoft Office Outlook 2003	Mon 10/30/2	34 KB	7
	-	2 Particular March				
	Import and Export	Date: Last Week David Coulthard	Col Free all to a back before a serie of a first PF hash	Mag 10/22/	6 MD	
	Page Setyp 🕨	Jacques Villeneuve	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc656.txt C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc656.txt	Mon 10/23/ Mon 10/23/		1
4	Print Preylew Print Ctrl+P	Date: Two Weeks Ago	Cillinan rester (Fressages (Fressource)	Pion 10/23/m	UKD	
	Exit	🖂 David Coulthard	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc943.txt	Sat 10/21/2	108	ų
	5	🖂 Tiago Monteiro	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc799.txt	Fri 10/20/2	16 KB	ų
(4)	Search Folders	Jacques Villeneuve	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc750.txt	Fri 10/20/2		
124	and hear and a second second	Scott Speed	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc765.txt	Thu 10/19/		1
		😑 Fernando Alonso	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc596.txt	Thu 10/19/		8
		🖂 🛛 Juan Montoya	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc568.txt	Wed 10/18/		1
-		Scott Speed	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc549.txt	Wed 10/18/		6
3	Mail	Jacques Villeneuve	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc511.txt	Tue 10/17/	6 KB	ų
		🖂 David Coulthard	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc767.txt	Tue 10/17/	62 KB	10
Ш	Calendar	📴 Christijan Albers	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc863.bxt	Tue 10/17/	3 KB	Ÿ
	Contacts	😸 Sakon Yamamoto	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc922.bxt	Tue 10/17/	26 KB	1
	condects	😸 Felipe Massa	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc859.txt	Mon 10/16/	7 KB	10
2	Tasks	😸 Nico Rosberg	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc768.txt	Sun 10/15/	8 KB	12
		🧧 Vitantonio Liuzzi	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc640.txt	Sun 10/15/		8
	5 🖸 🖬 🚽	Giancarlo Fisichella	C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc702.txt	Sun 10/15/	7 KB	12

4. Browse for the PST file in the location it was copied to in **Step 1**:



5. From this PST file you can view the email messages and drag-and-drop the mail items back into the original folders:

Inbox - Microsoft Outl	bok	_	
Eile Edit View Go	Iools Actions Help	Type a question for hel	lp.
🛐 New 🔸 🎯 🍱 🗙	🗛 Reply 🏟 Reply to All 🐴 Forward 🔤 Send/Receive 🔹 🍄 Find 🙆 🛄 Type a conta	act to find 🔹 😧 💂	
Mail	Inbox		Ĩ
avorite Folders	1 0 From Subject	Received V Size	P
Diread Mail	Date: Last Week		
🛄 For Follow Up	David Coult C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc656.txt	Mon 10/23/20 10 KB	8
Sent Items	Jacques Vill C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc656.txt	Mon 10/23/20 11 KB	8
Mi Mail Folders	Date: Two Weeks Ago David Coult C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc943.txt	Sat 10/21/200 151 KB	12
1 Dearch Folders	Tiano Mont C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc799.txt Select desire		27
ExMerge - Mark Webb Deleted Items	Jacques Vill C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc750.txt items and dra		8
Deleted Items	thems and the share of the state of the stat	9 Th 10/10/00 005 MD	10
Inbox (67)	and drop onto	Thu 10/10/20 22 KB	5
📜 Junk E-mail	Juan Mont C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc568.txt	1ge Wed 10/18/20 10 KB	10
Outbox	Scott Speed C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc549.txt folders.	Wed 10/18/20 39 KB	2
Sent Items	Jacques Vill C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc511.txt	Tue 10/17/20 10 KB	17
Search Folders	David Coult _ C\/EmailTester\Messages\rfr767 but	Tue 10/17/20 85 KB	P
Items from		Tue 10/17/20 7 KB	10
A the PST file	Sakon Yam C:\EmailTester\Messages\rfc922.txt	Tue 10/17/20 39 KB	5



5.4 Using the Microsoft Mailbox Merge Wizard to mass-import items (Exchange 2003)

- 1. Run the Exmerge.exe program from the /bin folder in your Exchange Server installation directory. This program was downloaded and installed for use with the BackupAssist Exchange Mailbox Add-on and gives you powerful options for importing lost mail data.
- 2. When the Wizard first runs, choose Extract or Import (Two Step Procedure):

Microsoft Exchange Mailbox Merge Wizard
Procedure Selection Please select the procedure you would like to perform
 Extract and Import (One Step Procedure) This function will extract data from a mailbox on the source server, into an intermediate .PST file, and then import the data from the .PST file into the same mailbox on the destination server. The mailbox should have the same container path on the destination server. After importing data into a mailbox, delete the intermediate .PST file. Extract or Import (Two Step Procedure) This function will allow you to either: 1. Extract messages and folders, from server based mailboxes, into Personal Folders. 2. Import messages and folders from Personal Folders (.PST files) into server based mailboxes.
< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel

3. Now choose **Step 2** to import your mailbox data back into your Exchange Server:



4. Input the details of your Exchange Server:

Microsoft Exchange Server Name: POLLINI		
Optional Information Domain Controller (DC) Name:	If a DC is specified, only users in the domain containing the DC will be available. (faster)	
Port Number for LDAP queries: (default is 389)	If a DC is not specified, the Global Catalog will be queried for users in all domains. (slower).	
To configure the message selection criteria, click on Option	s. <u>Options</u>	

5. To bring up advanced options such as filtering, click **Options** on the right hand side of the window.



6. On the **Data** tab you can define what types of mail data you want to import from your Mailboxes:



7. On the **Import Procedure** tab you can select your import method. The **Merge** method is recommended for most cases as this option will only restore messages that do not already exist within your Exchange Server:



8. On the Folders tab you can select which folders you wish to import. Leave this blank if you wish to import all folders.





On the Dates tab you can optionally choose the date range of messages you want to restore. Otherwise, simply choose
 All to import messages from all date ranges:

Data	Import	Procedure	Folders	Dates	Message	Details		
	lect messa D A <u>l</u> l	ages betwe	en the foll	owing dat	es/times			
6	Dated	From: 10/	30/2006	00:00:00	<u>T</u> o:	10/30/2006	23:59:59	
		mm	/dd/yyyy	hh:mm:s	5	mm/dd/yyyy	hh:mm:ss	
Whe	se Note: in extractir ve setting.		n the Dun	npster, all	tems will	be extracted,	regardless (of the
	Deli <u>v</u> en	-		e should l	oe used v	/hen extractin	g items?—	

Note: dates are in American format, as the ExMerge utility provided by Microsoft is not localized.

10. On the **Message Details** tab you can input subject or attachment filters for the restore (e.g. only import messages with the subject line "Hello there"):

Data Import Procedure Folders Dates Message Details
Items extracted should have one of the following message subjects Enter new message subject: Selected message subjects: Add> Hello there Remove Hello there
Subject string compare criteria: Sub string match, ignore case
Items extracted should have at least one of the following attachments Enter new attachment name: Selected attachment names: Add> Remove
Attachment name string compare criteria: Sub string match, ignore case
The above information is used in the following manner:
(Date Restriction) AND (Subj1 OR Subj2 OR Subjn) AND (Att1 OR Att2 OR Attn)
OK Cancel

11. Click \mathbf{OK} to close this window, and then \mathbf{Next} to proceed with the restore.



12. You can now select the mailboxes you wish to restore to:

Mailbox Selection Please select the mailboxes you wish the program to operate against.						
he following mailboxes have ou wish to merge data.	been found on the server. Please select t	he mailboxes into	o which			
Display Name	Directory Name	Size (K)				
Administrator	ADMINISTRATOR	0	~			
Ayrton Senna	1994_SENNA	33				
Christian Klein	CHRISTIAN.KLEIN	399423	_			
Christijan Albers	CHRISTIJAN.ALBERS	379715				
er megan meete	DAVID.COULTHARD	373168				
David Coulthard	DATID.COOLTHAID					
	FELIPE.MASSA	380837				
David Coulthard		380837 384800	~			

13. Select the **Default locale**, click **Next** and then specify a directory where your PST mailbox backups are located:

Select the folder containing the .PST files from which to Server. The files names should be <mailbox directory="" n<="" th=""><th></th></mailbox>	
Folder Name	Change Folder

15. You can speed up the import process by saving your settings as default settings that can be later loaded and re-run next time you need to complete a restore of mailbox data:

Microsoft Exchange Mailbox Merge Wizard	×
Save Settings Save all currently selected settings for later use	
You can now save all the selected program settings. This will help if you wish to run the program in batch mode, with the same settings.	
Currently selected settings, click on the File Names button.	
button.	
< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext > Cancel	

16. Click **Next** to begin the mailbox restore. Once complete, a report will indicate the status of the ExMerge restore process.



6. Manually restoring Public Folders in Outlook

You can restore public folders directly back into your Exchange Server using the BackupAssist Restore Console (see section 5.2). You can also, however, manually restore public folder items from PST files in Outlook. This method is great for simple scenarios where a user has deleted one or more items from a public folder, and needs to retrieve the information quickly. You can also use this method to restore the contents of an entire public folder.

To manually open and restore a Public Folder PST backup in Microsoft Outlook:

- 1. Copy the appropriate PST file to a location that an Exchange administrator can access. The computer used to access this file must have Microsoft Outlook installed and be logged into by a member of the same domain as the Exchange Server.
- Launch Outlook and click Mailbox—[username] under the "Mail Folders" list on the left-hand pane. This will display the "Outlook Today" window.

Mail Folders	*
All Mail Items	•
🖃 🧐 Mailbox - Admin	<u></u>
Deleted Items	
🔯 Drafts	
🖾 Inbox (10167)	
🐻 Junk E-Mail [7]	
🔚 Outbox	
🛐 RSS Feeds	-

3. From "Outlook Today", click **Customize Outlook Today** and then click **Choose Folders**.

(~)	Customize Outlook Today	Save Changes Cancel	
Startup	☑ When starting, go directly to Outlook Today		
Messages	Show me these folders:Choose Fo	lders	
Calendar	Show this number of days in my calend	ar 5 💌	

4. In the folder selection, check the public folders you wish to restore your PST backup to and click **OK**.

? ×
OK Cancel Clear All

5. Click **Save changes** on the "Customize Outlook Today" screen.





 You should now notice a new link to your Public Folders on the "Outlook Today" page under the "Messages" column. Click the **Public Folders** link to view the available items.

(~)	Friday, September 18, 200	9 Customize Outlook Today
Calendar	Tasks	Messages
		Inbox 10167 Drafts 0
		Public 0 Folders

Open the PST containing the Public Folder items you wish to restore. To do this navigate to File > Open > Outlook
 Data File from the top menu and browse to the location of your Public Folder PST backup.

i <u>E</u> ile	e <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew <u>G</u> o <u>T</u> ools	Actions Help
1	Ne <u>w</u>	Reply 🛛 🚑 <u>R</u> eply 🦓 Reply to A <u>l</u> l
F .	Open •	Selected Items Ctrl+O
H	Clos <u>e</u> All Items	Other User's Folder
	Save <u>A</u> s	<u>C</u> alendar
H	Save Attachme <u>n</u> ts	Outlook Data <u>F</u> ile

You should now have two Public Folder items listed under "All Folders". The first is the backup you have just opened, which you can tell from the server name and archiving period contained in the heading (in the example below: SBS2008-DEV for July-September 2009). The second is your Exchange Server's Public Folder.



9. To restore your Public Folder data from your backup, simply select mail items or folders from your within your archive folder and then drag-and-drop them back to the Exchange Server's Public Folder:



© Cortex I.T. 2001-2007



7. Resources and Support

7.1 Useful resources

You may find the following resources useful:

- Microsoft Exchange Server information: <u>http://www.microsoft.com/exchange/default.mspx</u>
- Microsoft Exchange Mailbox Merge (Exmerge.exe) information: http://support.microsoft.com/kb/174197
- BackupAssist Education Center (whitepapers, videos, tutorials, etc): <u>http://backupassist.com/education</u>

7.2 Contacting support

Should you have any questions regarding either BackupAssist or the Exchange Mailbox add-on specifically, please email such queries to support@backupassist.com and we will respond to you as soon as possible.

Similarly, if you have any suggestions for additional functionality in BackupAssist, or new products or add-ons, please also forward such feedback to support@backupassist.com